#### Case No. 83214

#### IN THE SUPREME COURT OF NEVADA

SFR INVESTMENTS POOL 1, LLC, a Nevada Limited Liability Company,

Appellant,

VS.

JPMORGAN CHASE BANK, N.A.,

Respondent(s).

Electronically Filed Nov 30 2021 11:27 p.m. Elizabeth A. Brown Clerk of Supreme Court

#### **APPEAL**

From the Eighth Judicial District Court, Clark County The Honorable JESSICA K. PETERSON, District Judge District Court Case No. A-13-692304-C

#### **APPELLANT'S OPENING BRIEF**

JACQUELINE A. GILBERT, ESQ. Nevada Bar No. 10593

DIANA S. EBRON, ESQ. Nevada Bar No. 10580

KIM GILBERT EBRON 7625 Dean Martin Drive, Suite 110 Las Vegas, Nevada 89139

Telephone: (702) 485-3300 Facsimile: (702) 485-3301

#### **JURISDICTIONAL STATEMENT**

This Court has jurisdiction pursuant to NRAP 3A. The Judgment on remand per instructions from the Nevada Supreme Court in Case No. 77010 (12AA\_2738.) was entered on June 9, 2021 and disposed of all claims remaining following remand. SFR timely appealed on July 9, 2021. (12AA\_2753.)

#### **ROUTING STATEMENT**

This appeal is presumptively retained by the Nevada Supreme Court because it raises questions of statewide public importance.<sup>2</sup> Further, this case should remain with the Nevada Supreme Court pursuant to NRAP 17 (a)(13)-(14), because it raises issues of first impression.

On Wednesday, June 23, 2021, the Supreme Court of the United States issued its opinion in *Collins v. Yellen*,<sup>3</sup> determining that the FHFA's structure as set forth in HERA violates the separation of powers and is therefore, unconstitutional. The U.S. Supreme Court remanded to determine what remedy was available under the

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup> The prior district court Findings of Fact and Conclusions of law from August 15, 2018 was vacated and the matter remanded with instructions to enter judgment in favor of Chase in the Opinion issued by this Court on October 29, 2020 in Case No. 77010 (11AA\_2591).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2</sup> See NRAP 17(a)(2).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>3</sup> Collins v. Yellen, Case No. 19-422, 594 U.S. (2021).

constitutional claim. This Court must decide whether remand is appropriate to determine damages to SFR caused by the unconstitutional structure of the FHFA.

## **ISSUES PRESENTED FOR REVIEW**

1. Whether this Court should remand for further proceedings to determine compensable harm to SFR caused by the unconstitutional structure of the FHFA?

#### **STATEMENT OF THE CASE**

This is a quiet title action arising from a foreclosure sale under NRS Chapter 116. The subject property is located at 3263 Morning Springs Drive, Henderson, Nevada, 89074 (the "Property"). SFR was the highest bidder at the foreclosure sale. On November 27, 2013, Chase brought claims against SFR quiet title and declaratory relief. (1AA\_0001-0008.) The original complaint did not mention 12 U.S.C. §4617(j)(3). (*Id.*) SFR counterclaimed for Declaratory Relief/Quiet Title and Injunctive Relief. (1AA\_027-0038.)

On March 9, 2016, Chase filed an amended complaint claiming to have been servicing the loan associated with the Property at the time of the sale on behalf of the Freddie Mac. (1AA 0174-0177.)

The district court originally entered summary judgment in favor of SFR on August 23, 2016 (6AA\_1332-1342.), and Chase appealed. (6AA\_1343.) After the parties stipulated to vacate the August 23, 2016, summary judgment and remand for the purpose of deciding specific issues related to 12 U.S.C. §4617(j)(3), the matter was remanded to the district court accordingly.

Upon remand, both parties moved for summary judgment and SFR moved to strike documents not disclosed in any discovery period. (6AA\_1391-9AA\_2143.) The district court ultimately found that Chase adequately demonstrated that Freddie

Mac owned the loan at the time of the foreclosure sale but that a three-year statute of limitations applied, and Chase's claims were therefore untimely. (10AA\_2175-2181.) Summary judgment was entered in favor of SFR on August 15, 2018. (*Id.*) The Bank again appealed and filed an opening brief containing multiple arguments raised for the first time on appeal or raised in its reply in support of its summary judgment motion. (10AA\_2191-2271.) For the first time in over five and a half years of litigation, and after arguing that its loan servicers adequately represent its interests such that they should have standing to raise 12 U.S.C. §4617(j)(3) on their behalf, the Federal Housing Finance Agency ("FHFA") appeared in the litigation and filed a brief of amicus curiae, raising new issues not argued below. (10AA\_2272-2299.)

Ultimately, on October 29, 2020, this Court concluded that the district court erred in applying a three-year statute of limitations period based mainly on arguments raised for the first time on appeal. (11AA\_2591-2604.) Specifically, this Court determined Chase's claims seeking to enforce the Federal Foreclosure Bar are best characterized as sounding in contract and are therefore governed by a six-year statute of limitations. (*Id.*) Thus, this Court held Chase's action was timely filed. (*Id.*) This Court further concluded that because Chase demonstrated that Freddie Mac owned the loan at the time of the foreclosure sale, the matter was to be remanded for the district court to enter judgment in favor of Chase such that the

Federal Foreclosure Bar prevented the foreclosure sale from extinguishing the deed of trust, and SFR therefore took the property subject to that deed of trust. (*Id.*)

SFR filed a petition for rehearing in which, among other things, SFR requested a stay pending *Collins v. Yellin*, 19-422, the case in which it would later hold that the structure of the FHFA was unconstitutional and its anticipated Petition for Certiorari from the Ninth Circuit opinion, *M&T Bank v. SFR Invs. Pool 1, LLC*, 963 F.3d 854 (9th Cir. 2020), relied on in this Court's October 2020 opinion. The petition for rehearing was denied.

On December 9, 2020, the Supreme Court of the United States heard oral argument on *Collins v. Yellin*, 19-422, the case in which it would later hold that the structure of the FHFA was unconstitutional. On January 6, 2021, SFR formally moved to stay remittitur pending a decision on *Collins* and SFR's then-pending petition for certiorari from the Ninth Circuit Court of Appeals in *SFR Investments Pool 1, LLC v. M&T Bank*, No. 20-908, docketed January 5, 2021. (11AA\_2605-2611.) Chase opposed, arguing *Collins* did not support a stay because the issues were waived and had no bearing on this case. (11AA\_2613-2626.) In its reply, without an opinion from the United States Supreme Court to analyze and to provide the Court with specific applicability to the instant case, SFR was only able to argue the propriety of considering the issue and the potential applicability. (11AA\_2628-2634.)

The Court ultimately granted SFR's motion to stay remittitur based on the petition for certiorari in SFR Investments Pool 1, LLC v. M&T Bank. (12AA\_2732-2734.)

Following remittitur on the second appeal, the district court, as directed by this Court, entered Judgment as directed by this Court, vacating the August 15, 2018 Findings of Fact and Conclusions of Law in favor of SFR and entering judgment in favor of Chase. (12AA\_2738.) The Judgment in favor of chase was entered and filed on June 9, 2021. (*Id.*)

Since entry of that judgment, the United States Supreme Court issued its opinion in *Collins v. Yellin*, 19-422 (June 23, 2021), determining that the FHFA's structure as set forth in HERA violates the separation of powers and is therefore, unconstitutional. The *Collins* Court remanded to determine what remedy was available under the constitutional claim. This Court must decide whether remand is appropriate to determine damages to SFR caused by the unconstitutional structure of the FHFA.

Decisions that harmed SFR were made by the FHFA Director while serving under an unconstitutional statute. Thus, regardless of the finding by this Court and the resulting Judgment entered in the district court, this case must still be remanded for further proceedings to evaluate the damages, or harm, the unconstitutional structure caused SFR.

#### STATEMENT OF FACTS RELEVANT TO THE ISSUES SUBMITTED FOR REVIEW

SFR purchased the subject Property as the highest bidder at the May 1, 2013 public foreclosure auction held on behalf of Pebble Canyon Homeowners Association (the "Association") pursuant to NRS 116. At no time before the sale was Freddie Mac named as a beneficiary on the subject Deed of Trust. When SFR purchased the Property, Freddie Mac was not the named beneficiary of the deed of trust. FHFA is conservator for Freddie Mac and Fannie Mae ("GSEs"). Before the Association sale, SFR was involved in litigation with Fannie Mae who did *not* argue that 12 U.S.C. 4617(j)(3) automatically prevented extinguishment of a Deed of Trust.<sup>4</sup> In late 2014/2015, the Director of the FHFA issued statements regarding decision not to consent to the operation of Nevada's superpriority lien laws.<sup>5</sup> The statements were made for the purposes of litigation and specifically referenced litigation.

At that point, SFR was still wholly unaware of FHFA's purported interest in the Property due to the public records and Chase, claiming it held the note and deed of trust in its Complaint.<sup>6</sup> It was not until 2016, over 3 years after the Association

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>4</sup> See Nevada Supreme Court Case No. 68495 and 64254.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>5</sup> https://www.fhfa.gov/Media/PublicAffairs/Pages/Statement-of-the-Federal-Housing-Finance-Agency-on-Certain-Super-Priority-Liens.aspx (last accessed November 5, 2021).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>6</sup> (1AA 0001.)

sale, that Freddie Mac, FHFA or 12 U.S.C. §4617(j)(3) were mentioned in this litigation.<sup>7</sup> Once Chase raised 12 U.S.C. §4617(j)(3), SFR argued issues regarding the FHFA's history of implied consent before the Director's decision to issue the statements, as well as the constitutionality of HERA, specifically as applied to FHFA's hidden interests, lack of a process to learn of FHFA's interest, lack of a procedure to request consent and lack of a procedure for a post-deprivation remedy.<sup>8</sup>

On June 23, 2021, the United States Supreme Court held that the structure of the FHFA violates the separation of powers and is unconstitutional.<sup>9</sup>

#### **SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT**

According to the Supreme Court of the United States, the structure of the FHFA violates the separation of powers and is therefore, unconstitutional.<sup>10</sup> This is the same FHFA that essentially told this Court it can foreclose on the real property of any Nevadan, even if not in default, leaving Nevada courts powerless to stop the sale due to its expansive statutory powers.<sup>11</sup> As set forth in United States Supreme

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>7</sup> (1AA 0053.)

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>8</sup> (9AA-2143-2147.)

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>9</sup> Collins v. Yellen, 594 U.S. \_\_\_, 141 S. Ct. 176, 210 L.Ed.2d 432 (2021).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>10</sup> Collins v. Yellen, 594 U.S. \_\_\_, 141 S. Ct. 176, 210 L.Ed.2d 432 (2021).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>11</sup> See November 4, 2021 Oral Argument in FHFA v. Dist Ct. (Westland Liberty Village, LLC), Case No. 82666, https://nvcourts.gov/Supreme/Arguments/
Recordings/82666\_FED\_HOUS\_FIN\_AGENCY\_VS\_DIST\_CT\_(WESTL AND\_LIBERTY\_VILLAGE, LLC)/, at 4:20-6:36 (FHFA counsel explaining court have no power to enjoin FHFA or Fannie Mae), 10:10-10:44 (FHFA counsel confirming he is asking Court to grant a writ petition finding the district court

Court precedent, the issue of structural unconstitutionality may be raised at any time.

Under *Collins*, decisions made by the director under this unconstitutional structure, such as the decision to significantly change the prior policy of consent to the operation of state super lien laws while maintaining a policy of hiding the potential application of 12 U.S.C. §4617(j)(3) without any means to obtain consent even if the purported interest were not hidden.

SFR has long maintained that the sudden change in position by the FHFA, long after most of these foreclosures had occurred, indicating the FHFA does not and has never consented, is contrary to the provisions in the relevant guides and contradictory to the actions taken by the FHFA during the relevant time periods. *Collins* validates what SFR has been arguing to varying degrees all along—the FHFA's director improperly implemented a new policy of non-consent to the operation of state super lien laws with statements issued after many of the affected foreclosures, including this one, had taken place. *Collins* simply provides the support for SFR to present the structural constitutional question.

Because SFR can raise a structural constitutional question at any time, including this argument at this juncture is appropriate and is not waived. Because

exceeded its jurisdiction in granting an injunction of a foreclosure despite FHFA not being a party and the argument not being presented to the district court), 27:57-29:00 (counsel for respondent explaining the practical ramifications of FHFA's argument on Nevadans with loans backed by Fannie Mae or Freddie Mac.)

the FHFA has such expansive powers, the decisions made under an unconstitutional structure should be closely scrutinized and not skipped over. The Court should remand for consideration of damages caused by actions of the Director.

#### STANDARD OF REVIEW

This Court reviews "summary judgment de novo, without deference to the findings of the lower court." <sup>12</sup>

#### **ARGUMENT**

Remand to consider SFR's damages for actions taken by the Director of the FHFA is proper here because the *Collins* opinion calls into question every decision made by the director of the FHFA. This includes the FHFA's significant shift in policy to invalidate state property law through the use o12 U.S.C. §4617(j)(3) while maintaining a policy of keeping any FHFA interest a secret and failing to provide any mechanism to request consent even if sought.

### I. FHFA'S STRUCTURE IS UNCONSTITUTIONAL

The *Collins* opinion that the FHFA's structure as set forth in HERA violates the separation of powers, and is therefore unconstitutional, calls into question every decision made by the Director of the FHFA. While the U.S. Supreme Court did not

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>12</sup> Wood v. Safeway, 121 Nev. 724, 729, 121 P.3d 1026, 1029 (2005).

void **every** action taken by the Director under the unconstitutional structure, it did find that the parties may be entitled to retrospective relief. It explained,

Although an unconstitutional provision is never really part of the body of governing law (because the Constitution automatically displaces any conflicting statutory provision from the moment of the provision's enactment), it is still possible for an unconstitutional provision to inflict compensable harm.<sup>13</sup>

In *Collins*, the U.S. Supreme Court remanded for the district court to consider any remedy for compensable harm inflicted by the unconstitutional provision in HERA.<sup>14</sup> The same remedy is appropriate here for SFR.

# II. CLAIMS REGARDING THE UNCONSTITUTIONAL STRUCTURE OF FHFA CAN BE CONSIDERED AT ANY TIME

As set forth in United States Supreme Court precedent, the issue of structural unconstitutionality may be raised at any time. <sup>15</sup> "[T]he mere failure to interpose [a constitutional] defense prior to the announcement of a decision which might support it cannot prevent a litigant from later invoking such a ground." <sup>16</sup>

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>13</sup> Collins, 141 S. Ct. at 1788-1789.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>14</sup> *Id*.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>15</sup> Carr v. Saul, 141 S.Ct. 1352 (2021)(holding a structural constitutional challenge may be raised for the first time on appeal); Freytag v. C.I.R., 501 U.S. 868, 878-79 (1991) (citing Glidden Co. v. Zdanok, 370 U.S. 530, 536 (1962)). The Supreme Court of the United States, "has held that even truly forfeited or waived arguments may be entertained when structural concerns or third-party rights are at issue." June Med. Servs. L. L. C. v. Russo, 140 S.Ct. 2103, 207 L.Ed.2d 566 (2020)(citing Freytag with approval).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>16</sup> Curtis Publ'g Co. v. Butts, 388 U.S. 130, 142–43 (1967).

The U.S. Supreme Court has "expressly included Appointments Clause objections" in the category of "nonjurisdictional structural constitutional objections that could be considered on appeal whether or not they were ruled upon below."<sup>17</sup> The U.S. Supreme Court has thus considered Appointment Clause challenges "despite the fact that [the challenge] had not been raised in the District Court or in the Court of Appeals."<sup>18</sup> In such cases, the "strong interest of the federal judiciary in maintaining the constitutional plan of separation of powers" outweighs any "disruption to sound appellate process entailed by entertaining objections not raised below."<sup>19</sup>

The *Freytag* court invoked a non-waiver principle founded in the "strong interest of the federal judiciary in maintaining the *constitutional plan of separation of power*," of which the Appointment Clause is but one part.<sup>20</sup> The case on which *Freytag* relied was not an Appointments Clause decision, but one involving another aspect of the "constitutional plan of separation of powers."<sup>21</sup>

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>17</sup> Freytag v. C.I.R., 501 U.S. 868, 878-79 (1991) (citing Glidden Co. v. Zdanok, 370 U.S. 530, 536 (1962)).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>18</sup>*Id.* at 879 (quoting *Glidden*, 370 U.S. at 536).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>19</sup> *Id*.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>20</sup> 501 U.S. at 879 (quoting *Gliddden Co. v. Zdanok*, 370 U.S. at 536. (Harlan, J., announcing the judgment of the Court) (emphasis added)); *id.* at 878 ("The roots of the separation-of-powers concept embedded in the Appointments Clause are structural and political.").

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>21</sup> Glidden, 370 U.S. at 536 (finding no waiver of separation-of-powers challenge to lack of tenure protections for judges of Court of Claims and Court of Customs

In a related context, this Court has also understood *Freytag* to address waiver of "constitutionally based structural protection," not simply Appointments Clause challenges.<sup>22</sup> In *Freytag*, after refusing to find the litigant's constitutional challenge waived, the Court went on to hold the Executive Branch's acquiescence in the alleged Appointment Clause violation did not deprive the Court of the power to reach the question either, for the same reasons founded in the importance of preserving separation of powers.<sup>23</sup> In *Hardy*, this Court relied on that passage to hold that "constitutionally based structural protections cannot be waived by either the legislative or executive branch."<sup>24</sup>

For present purposes, the important point is that this Court correctly viewed Freytag as addressing waiver of claims based on the "structural protections" of the Constitution's separation-of-powers regime generally, not the Appointments Clause specifically. Justice Gorsuch thus recently described Freytag as holding that "forfeited or waived arguments may be entertained when structural concerns" – not Appointments Clause Claims – "are at issue."<sup>25</sup>

Appeals); see also Kuretski v. C.I.R., 755 F.3d 929, 936-37 (D.C. Cir. 2014) (applying same rule to case challenging President's power to remove members of the Tax Court).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>22</sup> Commission on Ethics v. Hardy, 125 Nev. 285, 299 (2009)

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>23</sup> See 501 U.S. at 880.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>24</sup> *Hardy*, 125 Nev. at 299.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>25</sup> June Medical Svcs LLC v. Russo, 140 S.Ct. 2103, 2175 (2020) (Gorsuch, J., dissenting).

Additionally, raising this challenge at an earlier stage would have been futile, given that the basis of the challenge to the FHFA's structure arose only last summer with the Supreme Court's decision in Seila Law LLC v. CFPB, 140 S. Ct. 2183 (2020) (decided on June 29, 2020), well after the close of discovery, summary judgment briefing, and appellate briefing. Prior to that decision, the Supreme Court had repeatedly upheld the constitutionality of independent agencies.<sup>26</sup> It was only in Seila Law that the Court held for the first time that an independent agency headed by a single director removable only for cause violated constitutional separation of powers.<sup>27</sup> In so doing, the Court overruled Ninth Circuit precedent that had previously upheld the materially indistinguishable structure of the Consumer Finance Protection Board.<sup>28</sup> Further, without the *Collins* opinion explaining a party has standing to conduct discovery into compensable damages caused by decisions of the FHFA's director, any previous argument regarding the applicability of *Collins* in this case could not be complete. As such, any claim related to the issues in Collins would have been futile to raise previously, including at the district court where it was given instructions by this Court to enter judgment in favor of Chase.

\_

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>26</sup> See id. at 2198-2200.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>27</sup> See id. at 2200-07.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>28</sup> See CFPB v. Seila Law LLC, 923 F.3d 680 (9th Cir. 2019), overruled by Seila Law, 140 S. Ct. at 2183.

Earlier this year in *Carr v. Saul*, in addition to reaffirming that a structural constitutional challenge may be raised on appeal, the United States Supreme Court also reaffirmed that a constitutional claim is not waived if it would have futile to raise it previously.<sup>29</sup> Thus, SFR raising the unconstitutional structure of the FHFA is proper at this juncture.

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