IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF NEVADA

SFR INVESTMENTS POOL 1, LLC,

Appellant,

VS.

JP MORGAN CHASE BANK, NATIONAL ASSOCIATION,

Respondent.

Case No. 83214

Electronically Filed Mar 04 2022 06:26 p.m. Elizabeth A. Brown Clerk of Supreme Court

APPEAL

From the Eighth Judicial District Court, Clark County, The Honorable Jessica K. Peterson, District Court Judge Case No. A-13-692304-C

RESPONDENT'S ANSWERING BRIEF

Joel E. Tasca
Nevada Bar No. 14124
BALLARD SPAHR LLP
1980 Festival Plaza Drive, Suite 900
Las Vegas, Nevada 89135
(702) 471-7000
tasca@ballardspahr.com

Andrew S. Clark
Nevada Bar No. 14854
BALLARD SPAHR LLP
1980 Festival Plaza Drive, Suite 900
Las Vegas, Nevada 89135

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

SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

SFR does not challenge the district court's holding that the Federal Foreclosure Bar protected Freddie Mac's Deed of Trust from extinguishment

through the HOA Sale. In fact, it does not challenge any aspect of the district court's decision. Instead, SFR appeals the entry of judgment against it on grounds that were neither raised nor passed upon by the district court: that the U.S. Supreme Court's decision in *Collins* provides a basis for remand so that the district court may "determine damages caused to SFR by the unconstitutional structure of the FHFA." AOB at 4.

SFR's attempt to introduce the question into this litigation fails as a procedural matter; SFR cannot raise that new argument on appeal. Regardless, the new argument would not succeed even if the Court were inclined to consider it, because SFR never pled a claim or defense that turns on an action taken by the FHFA Director. And any attempt to amend the pleadings on remand would be futile because SFR cannot link the removal provision to anything that happened in this case. FHFA's Director neither took any affirmative action with respect to the Deed of Trust nor effectuated any "policy change" that might have been different but for the removal provision.

This case has been pending far too long already. SFR has done everything it can to avoid the conclusion that the Federal Foreclosure Bar applied to preserve Freddie Mac's Deed of Trust. In a last-ditch effort to prolong this litigation yet again, SFR now asserts a constitutional claim it never argued nor pled in the district court and that has nothing to do with this case. SFR's attempt to inject a new issue

at this stage is a bald attempt to evade this Court's mandate and forestall final judgment, in contravention of the spirit of the mandate rule. SFR has run out of arguments that have even a thin veneer of plausibility, and this Court should promptly bring this action to a final conclusion by affirming the judgment the district court entered under this Court's previous mandate.

ARGUMENT

SFR argues that this Court should remand this case in light of the U.S. Supreme Court's recent decision in *Collins*. SFR asserts that "*Collins* makes it clear that decisions and actions taken by the Director of the FHFA under its unconstitutional structure are called into question," AOB at 18, and that "[j]ust like the *Collins* [plaintiffs], SFR should be able to go back on remand and develop the case as it relates to the actions of the [FHFA Director] and the potential damages caused to SFR as a result of those actions," *id.* at 19.3

In discussing *Collins*, SFR points the Court to the oral argument in a pending Nevada Supreme Court proceeding involving FHFA. *See* AOB at 6 & n.11, 13 n.30 (citing *FHFA v. Eighth Jud. Dist. Ct., Clark Cty*, No. 82666 (Nev.) ("*Westland*")). SFR parrots arguments offered by FHFA's *opponent*, while neglecting to inform the Court that *Westland* does not concern the Federal Foreclosure Bar, an HOA sale, or a single-family residence. *See generally* Pet. for Writ of Prohibition, *FHFA v. Eighth Jud. Dist. Ct., Clark Cty*, No. 82666, Dkt. No. 21-08661. Rather, *Westland* concerns a statute mandating that "no court may take any action to restrain or affect the exercise of powers or functions of the Agency as a conservator"—12 U.S.C. 4617(f), which is not at issue here.

Not so. In *Collins*, the U.S. Supreme Court held that the "for-cause" removal provision in HERA applicable to FHFA's Director violates the constitutional separation of powers restriction. 141 S. Ct. at 1787 (describing 12 U.S.C. § 4512). The U.S. Supreme Court confirmed that this structural defect left "no basis for concluding that any head of the FHFA lacked authority to carry out the functions of the office," because each Director was properly appointed. *Id.* at 1788. The U.S. Supreme Court's remand in Collins accordingly was narrow; FHFA's statutory powers were upheld and the court remanded the case solely for consideration as to whether the unconstitutional Director removal provision caused harm to the *Collins* plaintiffs. However, the court never held that the *Collins* plaintiffs were entitled to any relief upon remand. Indeed, "[t]he mere existence of an unconstitutional removal provision ... generally does not automatically taint Government action by an official unlawfully insulated," id. at 1793 (Thomas, J. concurring), and "actions the President supports—which would have gone forward whatever his removal power—will remain in place" and cannot support a claim for relief, id. at 1801-02 (Kagan, J. concurring in part).

None of SFR's arguments for remand has merit. Indeed, the Nevada Supreme Court and the Ninth Circuit have rejected substantially the same arguments in materially identical cases, including one in which SFR offered them. *Ditech v. SFR*, 2021 WL 5993383, at *1 (rejecting SFR's *Collins* arguments because SFR "[did]

not explain from whom it wishes to seek money damages, nor ... why it was unable to previously make arguments similar to those asserted by the plaintiffs in *Collins*" and remanding for entry of judgment in favor of servicer without the need for additional discovery or briefing); *Bayview*, 2021 WL 4938115, at *2 (rejecting similar arguments as "an improper request for remand" that would be futile and irrelevant to the issues in the case).⁴ This Court should do the same here.

I. SFR Cannot Avoid This Court's Mandate

This Court has already determined that judgment should be entered in favor of Chase. SFR's attempt to inject a new issue in this third appeal is a bald attempt to evade this Court's mandate and to forestall final judgment. SFR's efforts serve only to prolong the litigation, and they contravene the spirit of the mandate rule, which "requires lower courts to effectuate a higher court's ruling on remand." *Estate of Adams By and Through Adams v. Fallini*, 386 P.3d 621, 624 (Nev. 2016). That is exactly what the district court did here.

In a published, en banc decision, this Court remanded the case with instructions that "the district court [] enter judgment in favor of [Respondent JP Morgan] Chase [Bank, N.A.] such that the Federal Foreclosure Bar prevented the foreclosure sale from extinguishing the first deed of trust." *Id.* at 58-59. On remand,

At the time SFR filed its opening brief in this appeal, the Ninth Circuit had already issued its decision in *Bayview* but this Court had not yet issued its decision in *Ditech v. SFR*.

the district court complied with that order, finding that SFR's interest is subject to Freddie Mac's deed of trust, with no objection from SFR. SFR offers no argument whatsoever that the district court diverted in any way from this Court's unambiguous mandate.

In effect, SFR seeks to relitigate the earlier appeal, not to challenge the propriety of what the district court did on remand. SFR had every opportunity to present all of its arguments earlier in this action, and this Court mandated that Chase was entitled to a final judgment. The Court should not indulge SFR's attempt to call a do-over now and to casually discard this Court's and the other parties' investment in bringing this case to resolution.

The district court implemented this Court's mandate to the letter. SFR cannot relitigate the appeal that led to that mandate. The Court should therefore affirm the district court's decision.

II. SFR Has Forfeited the Argument

SFR raises a new argument that relies on *Collins v. Yellen*, a U.S. Supreme Court decision voiding, based on separation-of-powers principles, HERA's "forcause" removal provision applicable to FHFA's Director. 141 S. Ct. at 1787 (describing 12 U.S.C. § 4512). The Supreme Court nevertheless confirmed that this structural defect left "no basis for concluding that any head of the FHFA lacked authority to carry out the functions of the office," because each Director was

properly appointed. *Id.* at 1788. SFR nevertheless now contends that it "has standing to conduct discovery into compensable damages caused by decisions of the FHFA director," including a purported decision to "significantly change the prior policy of consent" to the foreclosure of Enterprise interests through super-priority lien laws. *See* AOB at 7, 12.

SFR never offered this argument in any of the prior rounds of district court pleadings or briefing or in any of the prior rounds of appellate briefing: Not once did SFR suggest that FHFA's structure might be defective, much less that any such defect caused it harm. Indeed, SFR has not asserted any claim against FHFA, which is not a party to this case. Nor does SFR explain why it could not have challenged the removal provision in the district court, as the *Collins* appellants (and other parties in similar litigation) did years ago. SFR could have challenged FHFA's purported decision not to consent to the foreclosure of Enterprise liens through HOA sales—which SFR alleges took place in "late 2014/2015," AOB at 5, after SFR had acquired title to the Property through the March 2013 HOA Sale—any time thereafter.⁵ The fact that the Supreme Court had not yet ruled on the constitutionality of the removal

⁻

Chase does not mean to suggest that such a challenge would have been proper or meritorious if asserted immediately after FHFA announced its position on nonconsent. For the reasons explained herein, that claim would still have been meritless if SFR had timely raised it.

clause did not preclude SFR from challenging FHFA's decision on separation-ofpowers grounds.

This Court does not consider arguments raised for the first time on appeal. See Old Aztec Mine, Inc. v. Brown, 623 P.2d 981, 983-84 (Nev. 1981). This Court's rule is common to appellate practice, broken only in exceptional circumstances necessary to prevent manifest injustice. See, e.g., Padgett v. Wright, 587 F.3d 983, 986 (9th Cir. 2009) (citing Int'l Union of Bricklayers & Allied Craftsman Loc. Union No. 20, AFL-CIO v. Martin Jaska, Inc., 752 F.2d 1401, 1404 (9th Cir. 1985)). SFR does not claim such exceptional circumstances here, and none exist. All the facts necessary to plead a claim or assert an argument relating to the removal provision have been available since HERA was enacted in 2008, long before SFR commenced this action. SFR is a sophisticated and experienced litigant in cases like this that surely knew it could plead such a claim, and that it needed to plead the claim to preserve it. SFR never did so.

Having failed to assert the removal-provision argument in the district court, SFR forfeited it. The Court should not countenance SFR's attempt to prolong this litigation by entertaining the argument now.

III. Collins Is Irrelevant to the Claims and Defenses in this Case

Even without SFR's forfeiture, a remand to assess whether SFR may recover "damages ... caused by the unconstitutional structure of the FHFA," AOB at 4,

would be unwarranted, because that argument has nothing to do with any claim or defense raised in this case. Nor can SFR amend its pleadings to find a way out of the problem—any theory that the removal clause caused SFR harm by preventing it from obtaining free-and-clear title to the Property through the HOA Sale would fail as a matter of law.

A. SFR Has Not Pled Any Claim or Defense Related to the For-Cause Removal Provision

SFR contends that under *Collins*, it may challenge FHFA's purported decision to change "the FHFA['s] policy from generally consenting to foreclosure under state super lien laws." AOB at 14. But those arguments are irrelevant to this case—SFR has not pled any claim or defense relating to the Director's decisions or FHFA's structure, and it has not alleged any harm flowing from the removal provision. Critically, SFR has not asserted *any* claim against FHFA, the party that—under SFR's new theory—took the action that supposedly caused SFR harm. SFR cannot seek damages from an entity that is not a party to any claim, nor can it pursue damages against Chase for FHFA's actions.

Furthermore, a party cannot seek relief for a claim or defense it has not pled. Nevada is a notice-pleading jurisdiction that requires claims to be "sufficiently definite to give 'fair notice of the nature and basis or grounds of the claim and a general indication of the type of litigation involved." *Taylor v. State*, 311 P.2d 733, 734 (Nev. 1957). A party must set forth "the facts which support his complaint."

Liston v. Las Vegas Metro. Police Dep't, 908 P.2d 720, 723 (Nev. 1995). Similarly, "an affirmative defense not raised in the pleadings is ordinarily deemed waived" unless the opposing party is given reasonable notice and an opportunity to respond. Whealon v. Sterling, 119 P.3d 1241, 1244 (Nev. 2005).

SFR's pleadings provide no notice that it would make an argument related to an action of FHFA's Director or the removal provision. That argument never appeared in SFR's answer, counterclaim, or cross-claim (*see* 1 AA_0014-24, 28-38, 190-99), or in subsequent district court or appellate briefing. SFR's attempt to graft a constitutional issue onto this appeal must fail in light of the counterclaims it *did* assert: state-law claims for injunctive relief and to quiet title. 1 AA_0036-38. Under similar circumstances, this Court has rejected SFR's invocation of *Collins* because SFR failed to "explain from whom it wishes to seek money damages," *Ditech v. SFR*, 2021 WL 5993383, at *1, and the Ninth Circuit likewise concluded "[b]ecause FHFA is not a party to this case, it is unclear how we could even order the damages proceedings that the Trust requests on remand," *Bayview*, 2021 WL 4938115, at *2. This Court should do the same here.

B. SFR Cannot Demand Discovery or Add a *Collins*-Based Claim or Defense Now

SFR contends that "further discovery is needed to unveil whether or not the [FHFA] director would have been removed or replaced with one that would not have changed course" on the consent issue, and any related damages. *See* AOB at 20.

SFR's request lacks any plausible basis, and would serve only to needlessly prolong the litigation. The Court should not indulge it. If SFR were to move to amend the complaint on remand to assert a new claim and join a new party, that request would be denied as belated, prejudicial, and futile. *See MEI-GSR Holdings, Inc. v. Peppermill Casinos, Inc.*, 416 P.3d 249, 254-55 (Nev. 2018) (describing factors for denying motion to amend). A court may deny a motion to amend if the moving party unduly delayed in moving to amend or if amendment would seriously prejudice the opposing party. *See Kantor v. Kantor*, 8 P.3d 825, 828 (Nev. 2000) (denying motion to amend filed on the eve of trial); *Performance Steel, Inc. v. Wallner Tooling/Expac, Inc.*, No. 79993, 2021 WL 2432537, at *5 (Nev. June 11, 2021) (unpublished disposition) (motion to amend may be denied if it would cause "serious prejudice").

1. Any Attempt to Amend Would Be Untimely and Prejudicial

This case has been pending since 2013. It has already been appealed to this Court twice. Further discovery or an amendment would be untimely because SFR could have raised a challenge to FHFA's structure and the consequences of that structure on any decision by the FHFA Director in connection with the HOA Sale. But SFR never offered such an argument at any point during the prior district court proceeding or on appeal.

Any *Collins*-based claim SFR might seek to insert into the case at this late date would be time-barred. An amended pleading relates back only where it "asserts

a claim or defense that arose out of the conduct, transaction, or occurrence set out ... in the original pleading." Nev. R. Civ. P. 15(c). Here, SFR filed its original counterclaim seeking quiet-title and injunctive relief nearly eight years ago, in March 2014. 1 AA_0014-24. Any attempt by SFR to now add a claim on SFR's new theory would be based on a purported change in FHFA's policy of non-consent, not the underlying HOA Sale. Because the new claim SFR would seek to add does not arise out of the transaction or occurrence of the original pleading (the HOA Sale), any amendment raising it would be time-barred.

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